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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS
CORPUS CHRISTI DIVISION

CHRISTI R. RUSCH, 8
8
Plaintiff, 8
8
V. g CIVIL ACTION NO. 2:12-CV-0028
8
UNITED HEALTH GROUP INC., 8
aka/dba United Healthcare Services, Inc., 8§
8
Defendant. 8
ORDER

Before the Court is Defendant’'s Motion for Compl&ummary Judgment. (D.E. 45.)
For the reasons set forth below, Defendant’s moSoBRANTED IN PART and DENIED IN
PART. Plaintiff's civil claim for statutory non-siclosure penalties under 29 U.S.C. 8 1132(c)(1)
is RETAINED. Plaintiff's remaining causes of actiare DISMISSED WITH PREJUDICE.

INTRODUCTION

This case arises out of a dispute between Pla@lifisti R. Rusch and Defendant United
Health Group Inc. (UHG) over Plaintiff's eligibiitfor short-term disability (STD) and long-
term disability (LTD) benefits under UHG’s employgwonsored disability benefits plans (the
STD Plan and LTD Plan) in which Plaintiff partictpd as an employee. The STD Plan and the
LTD Plan are subject to the provisions of the Emp®Retirement Income Security Act of 1974
(ERISA), which permits a plan participant or beokdiy to seek redress in federal district court.
See29 U.S.C. § 1132(a)(1). Plaintiff brought suitims Court alleging the following five causes

of action against Defendant:
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Claim for STD and LTD benefits under 29 U.S.A.182(a)(1)(B);
Breach of fiduciary duty under 29 U.S.C. § 1H}®&);
Claim for monetary non-disclosure penalties urd®U.S.C. § 1132(c)(1);

p wDdPF

Claim for criminal penalties under 18 U.S.C.(®®1 for failure to disclose to
Plaintiff the STD and LTD Plans and Summary Plahemvrequested; and

5. Claim for criminal penalties under 29 U.S.C.181(a) for failure to disclose
to Plaintiff the STD and LTD Plans and Summary Blatmen requested.

(SeePlaintiff's First Supplemental Complaint, D.E. 8% 23—-41.) Defendant argues that all five
causes of action must be dismissed with prejudieeabse there are no genuine issues of
material fact, and Defendant is entitled to judgh@ena matter of law. (D.E. 45 at 11-12.)
SUMMARY JUDGMENT EVIDENCE

The majority of the summary judgment evidence corftem the joint administrative
record, which was compiled by the parties and sttbrchito the Court. In the case at hand, a
determination of ineligibility under the STD Planasv made by the independent Claims
Administrator, SedgwickCMS (Sedgwick), which is pessible for making benefits
determinations and reviewing denied claims. Thaiatstrative record consists of the Plans and
those documents and records submitted to the Clahmsinistrator for review. The
administrative record has been Bates-stamped fee eé identification. All citations to the
administrative record herein are preceded by ttterle UHG. The Summary Plan Description
can be found at UHG 1-22; the LTD Plan can be foantdHG 23-53; the STD Plan can be
found at UHG 54-75; and the various medical repantsrespondence, and other documents
relating to Plaintiff's STD benefits claim and appean be found at UHG 76-414. The facts of
the case are, for the most part, undisputed. \Mdatvs is a brief summary of the case.

Plaintiff was employed by Defendant as an Emptoysssistance Program (EAP)

Supervisor. (UHG 146.) This is a home-based, gadgmposition. (UHG 146, 307.) The last



day that Plaintiff worked before filing a claim fdisability benefits was November 17, 2008.
(UHG 270.) Plaintiff made a claim for STD benefits November 21, 2008. (UHG 85-86.)

Plaintiff applied for STD benefits based on swwjliand pain in her leg and a lumbar
strain. (UHG 321.) Plaintiff's physician, Dr. J@&hancellor, initially estimated that Plaintiff
would be able to return to work on December 22,82@0HG 173.) Plaintiff's claim for STD
benefits was initially approved through December, 2608, and then extended through
December 21, 2008. (UHG 88-90.)

Plaintiff visited Dr. Chancellor’'s office again obecember 30, 2008. (UHG 191.)
Following that visit, Dr. Chancellor diagnosed Rt#df with the following conditions: (1) stress
fracture to her left foot; (2) hypothyroidism withyxedema; (3) moderate, recurrent depression;
(4) L5-S1 acute disc herniation with radiculopatlfy) acute myofascial strain; (6) bilateral
carpal tunnel syndrome; and (7) migraine headadh#4G 191.) Nonetheless, Dr. Chancellor
stated that he optimistically anticipated Plairdiffreturn to work on January 5, 2009.
(UHG 191.) Plaintiff also provided documentatiowrnh Robert R. Vranes, a podiatrist, who
treated Plaintiff's foot and placed her in a watkiboot. (UHG 196-201.) The Claims
Administrator extended Plaintiff's STD benefitsahgh January 5, 2009. (UHG 91-92.)

After another office visit on January 6, 2009, @hancellor determined that Plaintiff
could return to work on a part-time basis. (UHG 208) The Claims Administrator approved
part-time STD benefits: Plaintiff would return woork 4 hours per day through January 25,
2009, and then increase her work to 6 hours pettliargafter, until returning to work full-time
on February 2, 2009. (UHG 93.) Additional STD bigeenvere subsequently approved through

February 8, 2009 due to a surgery on January 28.Z0HG 94.)



Plaintiff returned to full-time work in her homexfed sedentary position on February 9,
2009. (UHG 293.) Plaintiff continued to work fuifne for almost a month until March 2, 2009,
when she claimed she was no longer able to wotkifaé due to her disability. (UHG 292.)
Plaintiff submitted documentation from Dr. Chancelihdicating that she was only able to work
part-time from March 9, 2009 through April 9, 20GBHG 210-13.) This new claim for STD
benefits was approved through March 27, 2009, dreh textended until April 24, 2009.
(UHG 98, 101.) No further extensions were granted.

On May 4, 2009, an independent review of Plaistiffisability claim was performed by
Dr. Howard Sturtz, a physician advisor for the @lsiAdministrator. (UHG 104—-06.) Based on
the medical documentation provided to him, Dr. @twoncluded that there were no objective
clinical findings or medical evidence indicatingathPlaintiff was disabled. (UHG 105.)
Dr. Sturtz concluded that Plaintiff could returnwmrk as an EAP Supervisor in a sedentary
position. (UHG 104.) On May 7, 2009, the Claimswidistrator notified Plaintiff that her STD
benefits claim was denied beginning April 25, 2@8%the medical information submitted does
not demonstrate that you are unable to perfornmtaterial duties of your own occupation . . . .”
(UHG 107.)

Plaintiff appealed the denial of her STD beneéitsim to the Claims Administrator.
(UHG 121.) Plaintiff submitted additional media@dcumentation to the Claims Administrator
regarding her disability. (UHG 122-44.) The Claishdministrator forwarded the medical
documentation regarding Plaintiff's claim to twalé@pendent medical specialists for review—
Robert Polsky, M.D. and Jamie Lee Lewis, M.D. (UH60-52, 158-60, 165-66.) After
reviewing the medical records and the findings @mdmmendations of the independent medical

specialists, the Claims Administrator determineat there was no objective medical evidence to



support a finding that Plaintiff was disabled unttee STD Plan. (UHG 165-66.) The denial
letter additionally informed Plaintiff of her right file a civil action under ERISA. (UHG 166.)
Plaintiff filed her claim with this Court on Apr80, 2012. (D.E. 1.)

SUMMARY JUDGMENT STANDARD

Summary judgment is appropriate where “the mowsmws that there is no genuine
dispute as to any material fact and the movantnigled to judgment as a matter of law.”
FED. R. Qv. P.56(a). In reaching its decision, the Courtstmgonsider the affidavits,
depositions, declarations, stipulations, and otteauments presented to the Court in the light
most favorable to the non-movarCaboni v. General Motors Corp278 F.3d 448, 451
(5th Cir. 2002). The substantive law identifiesiethfacts are materiaBee Anderson v. Liberty
Lobby, Inc, 477 U.S. 242, 248 (1986kllison v. Software Spectrum, In@5 F.3d 187, 189
(5th Cir. 1996). A dispute about a material facgenuine only “if the evidence is such that a
reasonable jury could return a verdict for the nowmg party.” Anderson 477 U.S. at 248;
Judwin Props., Inc., v. U.S. Fire Ins. C673 F.2d 432, 435 (5th Cir. 1992).

The movant has the initial burden of showing tihatre is no genuine issue of material
fact and that he is entitled to a judgment as denaf law.Rivera v. Houston Indep. Sch. Djst.
349 F.3d 244, 246 (5th Cir. 2003ke also Celotex Corp. v. Catret/7 U.S. 317, 323 (1986).
The movant’s initial burden “may be discharged Bhowing'—that is, pointing out to the
district court—that there is an absence of evidetacsupport the nonmoving party’s case.”
Celotex 477 U.S. at 325. Once the movant has met itglirourden, the burden then shifts to
the non-moving party to demonstrate that summadgment is not appropriat®ivera 349

F.3d at 247.



In meeting its burden, the non-movant must esthlihat there are material, controverted
facts precluding summary judgmeAmnderson 477 U.S. at 248-49. The non-movant’s burden
is not satisfied by showing “some metaphysical dasto the material facts, by conclusory
allegations, by unsubstantiated assertions, orry a scintilla of evidence.Willis v. Roche
Biomedical Labs., Inc.61 F.3d 313, 315 (5th Cir. 199%ee also Brown v. HoustpB837 F.3d
539, 541 (5th Cir. 2003) (“Unsubstantiated assestiomprobable inferences, and unsupported
speculation are not sufficient to defeat a motion $ummary judgment”). Accordingly,
summary judgment must be entered “against a pahnty fails to make a showing sufficient to
establish the existence of an element essentidlatoparty’s case, and on which that party will
bear the burden of proof at trialCelotex 477 U.S. at 322-23.

ANALYSIS

Defendant argues that Plaintiff's claims should diemissed in their entirety for the
following reasons: A) Plaintiff's cause of action to recover STD andOLbenefits is time-
barred; B) Even if Plaintiff's LTD benefits claim is not tieabarred, Plaintiff failed to exhaust
her administrative remediesC) Plaintiff failed to demonstrate that the ClaimdnAinistrator
abused its discretionD] Plaintiff's cause of action for breach of fidugiaduty is duplicative;
(E) Plaintiff's cause of action for statutory non-dwsure penalties fails because Defendant was
not aware of Plaintiff's request, Defendant proadlttee STD and LTD Plans (albeit more than
two years late), and Plaintiff was not prejudicgdhe failure to disclose because she had access
to the Plans onlinef) Plaintiff's causes of action for criminal pena#tifails because there is no
evidence that Defendant acted willfully or knowwigahnd G) Plaintiff's estoppel claim fails
because it was not asserted in the First Suppleh@amplaint. The Court considers each of

these arguments below.



A. Contractual Limitations Periods Under STD and LTD Plans

Defendant argues that Plaintiff's claims to recd®&D and LTD benefits are time-barred
by the applicable contractual limitations periods f®rth in the STD and LTD Plans. (D.E. 45
at 19-24.) Plaintiff counters that the STD and LFPRns were never provided to Plaintiff, and
therefore, Plaintiff never had notice of the coatwal limitations periods. (D.E. 62 at 8-10.)

ERISA provides no specific limitations period foringing a cause of actiordarris
Methodist Fort Worth v. Sales Support Servs. ImapEHealth Care Plan426 F.3d 330, 337
(5th Cir. 2005). Where federal law provides nocgpelimitations period, the Court borrows the
state statute of limitations that would be appliethe most analogous cause of actidongan v.
Kraft Foods 969 F.2d 142, 145 (5th Cir. 1992). The most @g@alis cause of action to
Plaintiff's claims for Plan benefits would be a &cha of contract claim, which is subject to a
four-year limitations period under Texas ldd.. However, where an insurance plan designates a
shorter limitations period, that lesser period wgiivern, provided it is reasonableee Harris
426 F.3d at 337Northlake Reg'l Med. Ctr. v. Waffle House Sys. Byge# Benefit Plan160
F.3d 1301, 1303-04 (11th Cir. 1998)pe v. Blue Cross & Blue Shield United of Wisconsii?
F.3d 869, 874—75 (7th Cir. 1997).

The STD and LTD Plans impose a six-month limitasioperiod from the time the
administrative claim and appeals procedure is cetapfor the filing of an action under
29 U.S.C. § 1132(a) to collect benefits allegedixed under the Plans. (UHG 17.) The STD and
LTD Plans additionally impose a thirty-month cowtral limitations period for the filing of a
civil action from the date on which the claimantelinor reasonably should have known the
principal facts upon which her claim is based, rdlgss of the date the administrative claim and

appeal were filed. (UHG 17.) The Court finds thia¢se contractual limitations periods are



reasonableSee Dye v. Assocs. First Capital Long-Term Disgbitlan No. 06-41569, 243 Fed.
App’x 808, 809-10 (5th Cir. June 14, 2007) (findiag120-day period was reasonable);
Northlake Reg’l Med. Cty.160 F.3d at 1303-04 (finding a 90-day contrackuatations period
reasonable)Sheckley v. Lincoln Nat'l Corp366 F. Supp. 2d 140, 149 (D.Me. 2005) (finding
enforcement of a 6-month contractual limitationsiqee reasonable)Davidson v. Wal-Mart
Assocs. Health and Welfare PlaB05 F. Supp. 2d 1059, 1074-75 (S.D. lowa 2004yifig a
45-day limitations period was reasonable).

The Claims Administrator notified Plaintiff of treenial of her appeal with regard to her
claim for STD benefits on August 20, 2009. (UHG 466.) Accordingly, under the contractual
limitations period, Plaintiff had until February, 22010 to file an action challenging the denial of
her STD benefits. Plaintiff did not file the prasdéawsuit until April 30, 2012, more than two
years after the six-month limitations period exgireEven applying the more generous thirty-
month deadline, Plaintiff's action is still untinyel Plaintiff should have known the principal
facts of her claim, at the very latest, by the titne Claims Administrator denied her appeal on
August 20, 2009. Therefore, the thirty-month lemiobns period expired on February 20, 2012.
Plaintiff filed the present action on April 30, ZQ)Imore than two months late.

Plaintiff argues that the contractual limitatioperiods should not apply because
Defendant failed to provide her with copies of fAkans, and she was not informed of the
limitations periods in the letter denying her appd®.E. 62 at 8, citing UHG 165-66.)
Defendant counters that Plaintiff had construcktwewledge, if not actual knowledge, of the
contractual limitations provisions because she damkss to the STD and LTD Plans while she

was Defendant's employee via UHG’s HRDirect, avddaat www.unitedhrdirect.net, or by



calling HRDirect Monday through Friday between 7&f. and 7:00 p.m. (D.E. 45 at 24-25,
citing Coleman Decl., D.E. 45-1.)

The administrative record demonstrates that Riafinst made a request for the STD and
LTD Plans, through her attorney, on April 19, 20Q0HG 226.) By this time, however, the six-
month limitations period for filing a claim had e&dy lapsed: Plaintiff's appeal was denied on
August 20, 2009, which gave her until FebruaryZmL0 to file a lawsuit challenging the denial
of benefits. Thus, Plaintiff cannot argue that &iked to file a claim due to Sedgwick’s and/or
Defendant’s refusal to provide her with copiestsd aipplicable Plans. Moreover, Plaintiff does
not deny that she had access to the Plans throBRdbireict. Accordingly, there is nothing in the
record warranting a tolling of the contractual liations period.

In sum, the Court concludes that the Plans’ cotied limitations periods should be
enforced with regard to Plaintiff's claim for diskly benefits. Plaintiff's cause of action for
STD and LTD benefits under 29 U.S.C. § 1132(a)(L){® therefore DISMISSED. The
contractual limitations periods, however, only gpfd Plaintiff's claim for disability benefits.
They do not apply to Plaintiff's other causes di@t
B. Plaintiff Failed to Exhaust Administrative Remedes Under LTD Plan

The Fifth Circuit “requires that claimants seekbenefits from an ERISA plan must first
exhaust available administrative remedies under gla before bringing suit to recover
benefits.” Bourgeois v. Pension Plan for Employees of Santdnfkern, 215 F.3d 475, 479
(5th Cir. 2000). Defendant argues that Plaintitflaim fails because Plaintiff did not exhaust
her administrative remedies. (D.E. 45 at 25-27;.BZ&at 10-12.) The Court agrees.

First, Plaintiff argues that there is no requiremender the LTD Plan that she apply for

LTD benefits. The General Administrative Infornmeti section of the Summary Plan



Description provides that the LTD Plan is administeby a third-party Claims Administrator,
who is a fiduciary with the exclusive right and atetion to administer the Plan’s benefits.
(UHG 7, 13, 14.) The Summary Plan Description negfees the Filing a Claim for Benefits
section of the LTD Plan for more information on htavmake a claim. (UHG 14.) The LTD
Plan’s Filing a Claim for Benefits section provides

If [Claims Administrator] determines that your Diglgy may extend beyond 180

calendar days, [Claims Administrator] will provigeu with the necessary forms

and instruction to apply for LTD Benefits, or yoancrequest the forms and

instructions from [Claims Administrator]. You musbmplete the forms and

return them to the addresses listed on the forMmur timely submission of the

necessary forms will make the review of your LTRiwi faster. The review of

your claim can take up to several weeks from the tlee required information is

received. [Claims Administrator] will make a behafetermination and notify

you in writing.
(UHG 44.) The LTD Plan clearly requires the filinga claim with the Claims Administrator in
order to receive LTD benefits. Under the Planjriéifd had one year from the date she knew or
reasonably should have known the principal factsnuphich her claim is based to file an LTD
claim. (UHG 14.) Plaintiff failed to file a claifior LTD benefits during this period.

Next, Plaintiff argues that she was not requiredfite a claim with the Claims
Administrator because she was informed that sheetthdusted her administrative remedies in

the August 20, 2009 letter denying her STD apg&aE. 62 at 2.) The letter states:

As such, your claim for Short Term Disability beitefemains denied for the
period from April 25, 2009 until you return to work

You have exhausted your appeal rights under the &id you have a right to
bring a civil action under Section 502(a) of thefoyee Retirement Income
Security Act of 1974, as amended.

(UHG 166.) The letter makes no reference to theD LFlan or the exhaustion of her

administrative remedies with respect to the LTDnPla
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Finally, Plaintiff argues that the futility excéemd exempts her from having to file an
administrative claim for LTD benefits because h€b®enefits had already been denied and the
same Claims Administrator would be making a deteaton with regard to her LTD benefits
claim. (D.E. 62 at 2.) While the Fifth Circuit hasncluded that, “under certain circumstances,
plaintiffs in an ERISA case are not required to adt their remedies if doing so would be
futile,” Harris v. Trustmark Nat. Bank87 Fed. App’x 283, 295 (5th Cir. 2008) (citiGgop.
Benefit Adm’rs, Inc. v. Ogde367 F.3d 323, 336 n. 61 (5th Cir. 2004)), “[allUee to show
hostility or bias on the part of the administratregiew committee is fatal to a claim of futility.”
McGowin v. ManPower Intl, In¢.363 F.3d 556, 559 (5th Cir. 2004) (citiidpurgeois V.
Pension Plan for Employees of Santa Fe Int'l Cofd5 F.3d 475, 479-80 (5th Cir. 2000)).
Plaintiff makes absolutely no allegations of hdastilor bias on the part of the Claims
Administrator; consequently, the futility exceptidaes not apply.

The Court concludes that Plaintiff was requiredil® a claim for LTD benefits at the
administrative level before filing an action seekibenefits in the district court and that she
failed to do so. Accordingly, in addition to beirfmarred by the LTD Plan’s contractual
limitations period, Plaintiff's claim for LTD benig$ is DISMISSED for failure to exhaust her
administrative remedies.

C. Administrator’s Denial of STD Benefits Did Not Constitute an Abuse of Discretion

Defendant additionally argues that Plaintiff canmtemonstrate that the Claims
Administrator abused its discretion in denying henefits under the STD Plan; and therefore,
even if the Court were to find that Plaintiff's c@uof action fell within the applicable statute of

limitations, her claim for STD benefits must shi# dismissed. (D.E. 45 at 27-35.)
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ERISA authorizes a district court to review a démif disability benefitsSee29 U.S.C.

§ 1132(a)(1)(B). The statute does not, howeverfosth a standard of reviewirestone Tire &
Rubber Co. v. Bruci89 U.S. 101, 109 (1989). The Supreme Couridesasrmined that where
an independent plan administrator or fiduciary lbesn vested with the discretionary authority to
determine benefits, the district court must reviée administrator’'s determination for abuse of
discretion.Metropolitan Life Ins. Co. v. Glenrb54 U.S. 105, 111 (2008Firestone Tire &
Rubber Cq.489 U.S. at 115. If the district court finds tthlae administrator is acting under a
conflict of interest, this may be weighed as adaat the court’s determination of whether there
is an abuse of discretion; however, it does nonhgbhahe deferential standard of review to de
novo.Metropolitan Life Ins. C9.554 U.S. at 111, 115.

In the case at hand, both Plans were subjectitd-plarty claims administration by the
Claims Administrator, Sedgwick, which served asidudiary with respect to the Plans’
beneficiaries. (UHG 7, 13, 14, 57.) Plaintiff aeguthat the Plans’ language granting discretion
to a third-party claims administrator is ambiguo(B.E. 62 at 2.) The Court disagrees. The
STD Plan states that UHG is the Plan Administrdtat,that it has “delegated responsibility and
authority for administering claims to an unrelatddrd-party administrator.” (UHG 57.)
Additionally, under the Claim and Appeals Procedurthe Plans state that the “Claims
Administrator for each ERISA Plan is a fiduciarythwrespect to the applicable Plan”; and the
“Claims Administrator has the exclusive right anslcdetion, with respect to claims and appeals,
to interpret the applicable plan’s terms, to adstemn the plan’s benefits, to determine the
applicable facts and to apply the plan’s termstaedacts.” (UHG 14.)

In determining the appropriate standard of revitgwe, Court is guided by principles of

trust law: where a plan provides a claim admintstraor fiduciary discretion to determine

12



benefits, trust principles require a deferentiahdard of reviewMetropolitan Life Ins. Cq.554
U.S. at 111. The fact that the Plan refers to LA$Ghe Plan Administrator is not determinative.
The Plans make it clear that eligibility determioas are made by an independent Claims
Administrator who serves as a fiduciary and owespacial duty of loyalty to the Plans’
beneficiaries. Plaintiff failed to produce anyaamce that UHG was responsible for determining
eligibility for benefits, or that there exists anflact of interest on the part of the Claims
Administrator. See, e.g.Duhon v. Texaco, Inc15 F.3d 1302, 1306 (5th Cir. 1994) (finding
evidence of a conflict of interest where “Texacplan administrator was apparently also an
employee of the company”). Accordingly, the progndard of review for the Court to apply is
abuse of discretion.

In the summary judgment context, to avoid revetsalthe district court, the Claims
Administrator’s decision to terminate benefits mistsupported by substantial evidence in the
administrative recorddigh v. E-Systems Ina459 F.3d 573, 576 (5th Cir. 200@&}lis v. Liberty
Life Assurance Cp394 F.3d 262, 273 (5th Cir. 2004). “Substangh@dence is ‘more than a
scintilla, less than a preponderance, and is seldvant evidence as a reasonable mind might
accept as adequate to support a conclusidallis v. Liberty Life Assur. Co. of Bostas94 F.3d
262, 273 (5th Cir. 2004) (quotingeters v. Sec’y of Health, Educ. & Welfai&9 F.2d 1181,
1185 (5th Cir. 1986)). In other words, provideck tllaims Administrator’'s decision is
supported by substantial evidence and is not arlygitand capricious, it must prevail, even if
Plaintiff's disability is supported by a prepondeca of the evidencéd.

Plaintiff appeals the Claims Administrator's Ap@b, 2009 termination of her STD
benefits and August 20, 2009 denial of her apgé#ilG 107-09, UHG 165-66.) The Claims

Administrator’s denial of benefits was based omaaw of the medical evidence by Dr. Howard
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Sturtz, an independent physician advisor and boartified orthopedic surgeon. (UHG 104-06.)
Specifically, Dr. Sturtz reviewed the records fr@aintiff’'s April 22, 2009 office visit with Dr.
Jon Chancellor, Plaintiff's physician. (UHG 104,710

In denying Plaintiff's appeal, an appeals spesialith the Claims Administrator, Earl
Chester, considered the medical records and pmgass submitted by Dr. Chancellor, Dr. Sue
Moss (Plaintiff’'s psychiatrist), and Dr. Sturtz, @gll as evaluations from independent medical
specialists Dr. Jamie Lee Lewis (board certifiedphysical medicine and rehabilitation) and
Dr. Robert Polsky (board certified in psychiatrf))HG 165-66.) Moreover, the Claims
Administrator gave Plaintiff the opportunity to prde additional medical evidence to assist in
its determination. (UHG 128.) Based on this evadgrwhich is set forth in the administrative
record, the Claims Administrator concluded thatirRifi did not meet the definition of
“disabled” under the STD Plan and terminated heebts. (UHG 166.)

Under the STD Plan, the Claims Administrator mates determination of whether a
Plan participant is disabled. (UHG 63.) To be cdexed disabled, the participant must satisfy
the following requirements:

= You have been seen face-to-face by a Physiciant gloou Disability within

10 business days of the first day of absence cktatéhe Disability leave of
absence;

* Your Physician has provided Medical Evidence thaip®rts your inability to
perform the Material Duties of your Own Occupation;

= You are under the Regular and Appropriate CareRtfysician; and

= Your Medical Condition is not work-related and iMadically Determinable
Impairment.

(UHG 63.) The Court concludes that the Claims Adstrator’s determination that Plaintiff was
not disabled was supported by substantial evidencthe record and is not arbitrary and

capricious; consequently, the denial of STD besehitl not constitute an abuse of discretion.
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Dr. Lewis concluded in his report that “[from dysical medicine and rehabilitation
perspective, there is no objective data providethendocumentation as far as abnormalities in
spinal physiology or neurologic dysfunction frommausculoskeletal or neurologic process that
would suggest the patient is unable to perform jobrduties from 04/25/09 to the present.”
(UHG 159.) In reaching this conclusion, Dr. Lewmnsidered the diagnoses and complicating
factors indicated by Plaintiff's treating physicgnncluding her depression, disc herniation,
myofacial pain, carpal tunnel syndrome, and migrdieadache. (UHG 159.) In his rationale,
Dr. Lewis noted a lack of medical evidence withaiehto the patient’s reported symptoms, and
that this resulted in “very little in the way of jebtive findings to support a musculoskeletal
impairment.” (UHG 159.)

In his report, Dr. Polsky found that “there is radijective medical information in the
medical records nor from the teleconference [with \doss] which would support [Plaintiff's]
complete inability to perform her regular job frdd/25/09 through the present.” (UHG 151.)
Accordingly, Dr. Polsky concluded that Plaintiff svanot disabled and that there were no
medically supported restrictions/limitations thabald be placed on her work. (UHG 151-52.)
In his rationale, Dr. Polsky noted that there wasdncumentation in the record demonstrating
that Plaintiff was suicidal, parasuicidal, homidjdaanic, or psychotic; and that there was no
indication demonstrated by the mental status exatioim findings that memory, cognition, or
concentration were impaired. (UHG 152.) Conseduyetiiere was insufficient clinical support
to substantiate a global impairment of functioningt would preclude Plaintiff from performing
her job duties during the period under review. (UH§2.)

The record additionally contains a letter from O@hancellor, Plaintiff's primary

physician, written on or about June 19, 2009, agapér in response to Sedgwick’'s April 25,
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2009 determination of ineligibility. (UHG 130.) &Hetter was based on a June 8, 2009 office
visit, and therein, Dr. Chancellor lists Plaintffhbrimary problem as her depression. (UHG 130.)
Dr. Chancellor indicates that it is his opinioniRidf could return to work on a limited schedule.
(UHG 130.) The letter, however, fails to provideyabjective medical evidence to support a
finding that Plaintiff was unable to perform thetaraal duties of her occupation.

The record additionally contains a letter from Blioss dated June 10, 2009. (UHG 137.)
Dr. Moss indicates that Plaintiff should be abledturn to occupational functioning soon from a
psychiatric perspective, but defers to Plaintiffismary care physician regarding any decisions
on occupational functioning. (UHG 138.) Again, tater fails to provide any objective medical
evidence to support a finding that Plaintiff wasable to perform the material duties of her
occupation.

To be considered disabled, Plaintiff was requiregdrovide medical evidence supporting
her inability to perform the material duties of loevn occupation. Medical evidence is defined
as clear documentation of functional impairmentd &mctional limitations resulting from a
medically determinable impairment that would pravBhaintiff from performing the material
duties of her occupation safely and adequately. GUt2.) A medically determinable
impairment is defined as an anatomical, physiollgior psychological abnormality which can
be shown by medically acceptable clinical and labtmwy diagnostic techniques. (UHG 72.) This
requires medical evidence consisting of signs, $gmp, and laboratory findings—not simply
an individual's statement of symptoms. (UHG 72.)

The Court found little or no medical evidence e administrative record to support a
finding of disability at the time Plaintiffs STDedmefits were terminated, and the letters from

Plaintiff's physicians are, at best, inconclusivéhwegard to whether Plaintiff was unable to
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perform the material duties of her occupation afpril 25, 2009. The administrative record
demonstrates that Plaintiff had a temporary diggldflom which her physicians anticipated she
would recover in a short period of time. (UHG 2828.) There were no clinical or laboratory
diagnostic techniques performed by Plaintiff's pbigs demonstrating that she was disabled
after April 25, 2009. The letters by Plaintiffshysicians, Dr. Chancellor and Dr. Moss,
generally describe her medical history and heedtaymptoms and maladies, but they do not
provide any objective evidence of a disability.

The Court concludes that the Claims Administratodecision was supported by
substantial evidence in the administrative record was not arbitrary and capricious. As stated
in the letter denying Plaintiffs appeal, there wsinply insufficient clinical support to
substantiate a global impairment of functioningcprding Plaintiff from performing her job
duties after April 25, 2009. (UHG 166.)

Plaintiff argues that the Claims Administratorlddi to seek out additional evidence or
conduct additional medical tests and evaluatiordetermine if Plaintiff was disabled; however,
this improperly places the burden on the Claims histrator. “Claimants must present their
strongest available case to the plan administrécause the primary decision is made at that
point.” Duhon v. Texaco, Inc15 F.3d 1302, 1309 (5th Cir. 1994). Plaintifhnat circumvent
her burden at the administrative stage by argurag the Claims Administrator should have
sought out additional evidence supporting her diisabld. Moreover, Plaintiff's assertion that
additional medical evidence concerning her disgbdkists outside of the administrative record
is inappropriate. Congress intended the distocatrts to merely review the decisions of the plan
administrators, not to take additional evidence aradke independent disability determinations.

Id. at 1309, n.7. Plaintiff cannot reopen her adstiative proceedings before this Court.
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Plaintiff was required to submit her physician’'geds, MRI scans, test results, and other
relevant medical evidence to the Claims Administréor evaluation. Her failure to do so must
result in a denial of her claind. at 1309.

Based on the evidence in the record, the Courtladas that the Claims Administrator’s
determination of ineligibility did not constituten abuse of discretiorsee Meditrust Fin. Servs.
Corp. v. Sterling Chems., Incl68 F.3d 211, 215 (5th Cir. 1999) (concludingt thiae
administrator’'s review of the claim “constitutesoaegh of a ‘rational connection between the
known facts and the decision’ to survive arbitraryd capricious review”). Accordingly, in
addition to being barred by the STD Plan’s contraktimitations period, Plaintiff's claim for
STD benefits is DISMISSED for failure to demonsgrah abuse of discretion.

D. Breach of Fiduciary Duty Claim Is Duplicative

A claim for breach of fiduciary duty may be asedrtinder either Section 1132(a)(2) or
Section 1132(a)(3) of Title 29. Plaintiff does maéntify under which section she seeks relief.
Section 1132(a)(2) provides a plan participantemdficiary with a cause of action for equitable
relief under Section 1109 of Title 29. Under Saxtl109, a fiduciary may be held personally
liable to the plan for a breach of his fiduciarytida to the plan. There is no indication in the
First Supplemental Complaint that Plaintiff asseatgause of action on behalf of the Plan.
Accordingly, the Court concludes that Plaintiffseach of fiduciary duty claim arises under
Section 1132(a)(3).

Defendant argues that Plaintiff's breach of fidugiclaim under 29 U.S.C. §81132(a)(3)
is nothing more than a repackaged denial of benefihim which must be dismissed as
duplicative. (D.E. 45 at 36.) IWvarity Corp. v. Howe 516 U.S. 489, 510-15 (1996), the

Supreme Court concluded that an ERISA plaintiff may bring a claim for breach of fiduciary

18



duty where adequate relief for a beneficiary’s lipjis provided elsewhere in Section 1132, and
therefore, equitable relief is not necessaBee also Rhorer v. Raytheon Eng’'rs and
Constructors, In¢.181 F.3d 634, 639 (5th Cir. 199@hrogated on other grounds by CIGNA
Corp. v. Amaral31 S. Ct. 1866, 1877 (201Burns v. Orthotek Inc. Emps. Pension Plan and
Trust No. 3:08-cv-00190, 2009 WL 631245, at *4 (Mar, 2009) (concluding that “a plaintiff
may not bring both a § 502(a)(3) claim for breathiduciary duty and a § 502(a)(1)(B) claim
for wrongful denial of benefits” as such claims dugplicative). The Court concludes that where
a breach of fiduciary duty claim is based solelyamnalleged denial of plan benefits, as in the
case at hand, this claim is duplicative of a deoiddenefits claim.

Plaintiff argues that the above line of cases dbapply to the case at hand because the
fiduciary failed to provide Plaintiff the Plan dauents when requested; that is, Plaintiff argues
her breach of fiduciary duty claim is not a claiar failure to provide benefits, but is based on
Defendant’s failure to provide the requested Placudhents. (D.E. 62 at 31.) Yet, there is no
mention of this in the First Supplemental Complaifaintiff alleges that “defendant breached
their fiduciary duty by denying her disability béme” (D.E. 34  25.) Additionally, Plaintiff
alleges that “defendant breached their fiduciarty dun August 20, 2009, when they denied the
plaintiff her STD benefits.” (D.E. 34 § 25.1.) Theare no allegations in Plaintiff's breach of
fiduciary duty cause of action relating to a faduo provide Plan documents. The first time
Plaintiff makes this assertion is in her respoBeE. 62 at 31.) “A claim which is not raised in
the complaint, but, rather, is raised only in res@to a motion for summary judgment is not
properly before the courtCutrera v. Bd. of Supervisors of La. State Und29 F.3d 108, 113
(5th Cir. 2005). Accordingly, Plaintiff's cause aiction for breach of fiduciary duty is

DISMISSED as duplicative.
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E. Non-Disclosure Cause of Action Under 29 U.S.C.1832(c)(1)

In the First Supplemental Complaint, Plaintiff eits that Defendant is liable under
ERISA Section 1132(c)(1) for failing to provide Pidff copies of the STD and LTD Plans, Plan
amendments, and/or a summaries of the Plans desytevritten requests sent to UHG on
March 16, 2011 and August 25, 2011, and one writtguest sent to the Claims Administrator
on April 19, 2010, which was forwarded to UHG onwid), 2010. (D.E. 34 11 31-33.)

Defendant claims that UHG was not aware of the&idgtthat Plaintiff sent to it by
certified mail until Plaintiff filed the letters agtachments to her response to Defendant’s motion
to dismiss. (See argument at D.E. 45 at 40; attadtsnavailable at D.E. 22-1 at 21-25.)
Defendant also asserts that it produced the STDLAm Plans on July 26, 2012. (D.E. 45
at41.) However, this was more than two yearsr @aintiff allegedly made her original
requests for the Plans. Finally, Defendant asserés Plaintiff was not prejudiced by
Defendant’s failure to disclose the Plans becals@t®f had access to the Plans online through
HRDirect. (d. at 42.)

The ERISA reporting and disclosure rule is vergightforward regarding the disclosure
requirements of the Claims Administrator: “The adistrator shall, upon written request of any
participant or beneficiary, furnish a copy of tlaelst summary plan description, and the latest
annual report, any terminal report, the bargairaggeement, trust agreement, contract, or other
instruments under which the plan is establishedpmrated.” 29 U.S.C. § 1024(b)(4). This
disclosure provision is enforced through a statuteenalty of up to $100 per day for any
administrator who fails to provide the requestefbrimation. See29 U.S.C. 8§ 1132(c)(1)(B).
There is no knowledge or intent requirement to ati&e 1132(c)(1) claim, nor is Plaintiff

required to demonstrate prejudice. Congress’sqa@|n enacting this section was to ensure that
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“the individual participant knows exactly where $tands with respect to the plarkirestone
Tire and Rubber Co. v. Brucd89 U.S. 101, 116-18 (1989) (quoting H.R. Rep. 98533, p.
11 (1973)). This requires strict compliance witk section’s disclosure provisions.

The Court finds Defendant’s arguments unavailegarding its failure to timely furnish
Plaintiff with a copy of the STD and LTD Plans. &tminimum, the evidence presents genuine
issues of material fact precluding summary judgmddfendant additionally argues that courts
rarely award the statutory maximum penalty of $p@d day, and even if the Court finds that
UHG did not provide the STD and LTD Plans to Piéinen award of penalties should be
denied. (D.E. 45 at 41-43.) However, damages @arsse for trial, not summary judgment.
Accordingly, Defendant’s motion for summary judgrh@ DENIED with regard to Plaintiff's
Section 1132(c)(1) cause of action for failure tovide Plaintiff copies of the Plans.

F. ERISA Criminal Violations

Plaintiff argues that Defendant should be heldhorally liable for willfully omitting or
failing to perform reporting or disclosure requireg ERISA, making a false statement or
representation of fact knowing it to be false, nowingly concealing, covering up, or failing to
disclose a fact whose disclosure is required byS2Rin violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1027 and
29 U.S.C. §1131(a). (D.E. 34 11 34, 35.) Pldimskerts that these criminal violations occurred
when Plaintiff purposefully withheld the STD andDPlans and the summary of the Plans from
Plaintiff. (D.E. 34 1 34.)

Defendant argues that there is no evidence inréigerd that the alleged failure to
disclose the Plans was knowing or that DefendarlfuMy violated ERISA’s disclosure
provisions. (D.E. 45 at 43—-44.) Yet, the Courdéma more fundamental flaw with the alleged

criminal violations. Plaintiff lacks standing taig a claim for criminal violations under
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ERISA. West v. Butler621 F.2d 240, 244 (6th Cir. 1980) (enforcemenEBiISA’s criminal
provisions “is the exclusive prerogative of the oittey General”);Dickerson v. Mutual of
Americg 703 F. Supp. 2d 283, 294-95 (S.D.N.Y. 2010) {gitt9 U.S.C. 88 1136, 1204(b));
60A AM. JUR. 2D Pensions8 798 (2009). Accordingly, Plaintiff's cause oftian asserting
criminal penalties for violations of 18 U.S.C. 8%0and 29 U.S.C. § 1131 is DISMISSED.
G. Estoppel Claim

Plaintiff asserts for the first time in her resperthat Defendant should be estopped from
denying Plaintiffs STD and LTD benefits claims bese Defendant allegedly represented to her
that she would be granted STD and LTD benefithé were awarded Social Security benefits.
(D.E. 62 at 12.) Plaintiff was awarded Social 3#gubenefits by the Social Security
Administration after she appealed the denial of 8D benefits. (UHG 219-22.) Plaintiff
cannot, however, assert a claim for the first tonesummary judgment. “A claim which is not
raised in the complaint, but, rather, is raised/anlresponse to a motion for summary judgment
is not properly before the courtCutrera 429 F.3d at 113. Accordingly, Plaintiff has nalig
estoppel claim.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, Defendant’'s Mofttw Complete Summary Judgment
(D.E. 45) is GRANTED IN PART and DENIED IN PART. lamtiff’s civil claim for statutory
non-disclosure penalties under 29 U.S.C. § 113P(d¥ RETAINED. Plaintiff's remaining
causes of action are DISMISSED WITH PREJUDICE.

ORDERED this 15th day of July 2013.

NELEA GONZALES aAMOS

WNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
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